2010

# Grassy Meadows Sky Ranch v. Grassy Meadows Airport; Sky Ranch Development; Michael O. Longley : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

The Supreme Court has original jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(j). Pursuant to Rule 42(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, the Supreme Court transferred this appeal to the Utah Court of Appeals, which has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j).

## **ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW**

*Issue One.* Whether the trial court erred when it concluded that the 2002 Amended Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions governing the Development was void *ab initio*. (Issue preserved: R. at 741/18.)<sup>1</sup>

*Standard of Review.* Questions of interpretation of a restrictive covenant not requiring resort to extrinsic evidence is a matter of law, reviewed for correctness. *View Condominium Owners Ass'n v. MSICO, L.L.C.*, 2005 UT 91, ¶ 17, 127 P.3d 697. Whether a trial court correctly defined and interpreted Utah common law is a question of law, reviewed for correctness. *Jones v. Barlow*, 2007 UT 20, ¶ 11, 154 P.3d 808. Whether a provision of a restrictive covenant is severable is a question of intent, which is a question of law if the intent can be derived from the written contract. *Management Services Corp. v. Development Associates*, 617 P.2d 406, 408 (Utah 1980).

*Issue Two.* Whether the trial court erred when it dismissed Sky Ranch's claim for

---

1. In reviewing the record index, it has come to Sky Ranch's attention that several record documents are only indexed on their first pages. In order to provide pinpoint record citations and to avoid confusion with page spans and line numbers, Sky Ranch will use a slash ("/") between the index number of the first page of the document and the pinpoint page of that document. For example, "R. at 741/18" refers to page 18 of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, which are listed in the document index as beginning on page 741 of the record.

tortious interference with business advantage, notwithstanding the fact that the claim was never submitted for decision and the trial court had agreed to hear more evidence on the issue. (Issue preserved: R. at 742/2-3.)

**Standard of Review.** Whether a trial court erred in granting summary judgment without a hearing is a question of law reviewed for correctness. *Price v. Armour*, 949 P.2d 1251, 1254 (Utah 1997). A trial court's grant of summary judgment is reviewed for correctness. *Bingham v. Roosevelt City Corp.*, 2010 UT 37, ¶ 10, 235 P.3d 730.

**Issue Three.** Whether the trial court erred in concluding that Sky Ranch was not entitled to termination of the lease or damages. (Issue preserved: R. at 741/16.)

**Standard of Review.** Whether a party is required to comply strictly or merely substantially with a contractual provision is a question of law reviewed for correctness. *Geisdorf v. Doughty*, 972 P.2d 67, 70 (Utah 1998). Whether a party complied with a contractual provision is a question of fact, reviewed for clear error. *Saunders v. Sharp*, 793 P.2d 927, 931 (Utah App. 1990). Whether the trial court correctly interpreted a contract is a question of law. *Richardson v. Hart*, 2009 UT App 387, ¶ 6, 223 P.3d 484. Whether the trial court correctly applied the equitable estoppel doctrine is a mixed question of law and fact. *Whitaker v. Utah State Retirement Board*, 2008 UT App 282, ¶ 11, 191 P.3d 814.

**Issue Four.** Whether the trial court erred when it held that the amounts held in escrow constituted "payment in full under the lease through December 31, 2010," notwithstanding the fact that the issue was never raised in either party's pleadings and no evidence was ever presented at trial that would allow the court to make that finding. (Issue preserved: R. at 742/3-4.)

*Standard of Review.* Whether an issue was properly before the trial court presents a question of law, which is reviewed for correctness. *Lee v. Sanders*, 2002 UT App 281, ¶ 7, 55 P.3d 1127.

### **RELEVANT STATUTORY PROVISIONS**

There are no statutory provisions whose interpretation is central to this appeal.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Plaintiff Grassy Meadows Sky Ranch Landowners Association (hereinafter “Association”) filed suit on June 11, 2003, asking, *inter alia*, for a declaratory judgment against Defendants Grassy Meadows Airport Inc., Sky Ranch Development Inc., and Michael Longley (collectively “Sky Ranch”). (R. at 1.) Sky Ranch filed a counterclaim, seeking damages and injunctive relief for breach of lease and unlawful interference with economic relations. (R. at 7.) After a long period of litigation, motions and preparation, a trial was held in this matter on April 19-20, 2010 before Judge G. Rand Beacham. (R. at 754-755.)

After hearing the trial evidence, the trial court issued written Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on August 6, 2010. (R. at 741.) The Association submitted a proposed final judgment on August 30 2010, granting declaratory judgment for the Association, denying Sky Ranch’s claims of breach of lease and unlawful interference with economic relations to the trial court, and ordering that the amounts held in the court’s escrow account should be released to Sky Ranch as payment in full under the lease. (R. at 746.) Sky Ranch filed a written objection to the proposed judgment on September 3, 2010, arguing that the unlawful interference claim had never been submitted for decision, and that there was no evidence taken to determine that the amount

in escrow represented the full amount owed to Sky Ranch under the lease agreement. (R. at 742.) The Association filed a written response to Sky Ranch's objection on September 7, 2010. (R. at 743.) Without addressing Sky Ranch's objections, the trial court entered the final judgment as submitted by the Association on October 20, 2010. (R. at 746.) Sky Ranch filed a Notice of Appeal on November 17, 2010. (R. at 747.)

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Beginning in the early 1980s, Sky Ranch began to develop Grassy Meadows Sky Ranch (Development or Community), a planned community in Hurricane, Utah. (R. at 741/2.) The premise behind the Development was to create a community of private aviators who could enjoy their love of flying from their homes. (*Id.*) To that end, Sky Ranch constructed Grassy Meadows Airport next to the Development. (*Id.*)

#### **I. THE 2002 CC&Rs**

In 1984, Sky Ranch created and recorded CC&Rs to govern the Development. These CC&Rs were superseded by an Amended Declaration of CC&Rs in 1990 ("1990 CC&Rs"). (R. at 741/4.) The 1990 CC&Rs provided that Sky Ranch had the authority to unilaterally amend the CC&Rs until 2005, or until the Community was fully developed and 80% of the total lots were sold. (Ex. 5 §§ XI.2 & .4, XII.3.)<sup>2</sup> The 1990 CC&Rs specified that the Development was limited to 150 lots. (*Id.*) The 1990 CC&Rs also stated that the developer could unilaterally amend to more accurately express the intent of any provision in the 1990 CC&Rs, to better insure the workability of the arrangement contemplated in the 1990 CC&Rs, and to facilitate the integration of additional tracts into

---

2. For ease of reference, the trial exhibit binder (R. at 375a) will be cited to as Ex. (with a capital E) followed by the number on the tab of the exhibit.

the Development. (*Id.*)

In approximately June 2002, 75 of the 92 lots platted in the Community had been sold, bringing the number of lots sold in the Community to 81.5 percent. (R. at 741/4.) In September 2002, the Association alleged in a letter to Sky Ranch that its right to unilaterally amend the 1990 CC&Rs had terminated. (*Id.*) However, Sky Ranch disagreed with the Association's interpretation of the amendment provisions of the 1990 CC&Rs and filed amended CC&Rs in October 2002 ("2002 CC&Rs"). (R. at 741/5; Ex. 6.)

The Association disagreed with several of the amendments set forth in the 2002 CC&Rs, and so sued to nullify them. The trial court determined that the 1990 CC&Rs were ambiguous as to when Sky Ranch's power to unilaterally amend terminated, and so construed them against Sky Ranch as the drafter, nullifying the CC&Rs. (R. at 741/18-19.) The trial court also ruled that the 2002 CC&Rs impermissibly went beyond the purposes allowed for in the 1990 CC&Rs and in Utah common law. (*Id.*)

## II. THE FBO

When Sky Ranch platted Phase I of Sky Ranch, it left an eight-acre parcel of land to the west of the runway. (Tr.1 41:11-24; Ex. 8.)<sup>3</sup> The 1990 CC&Rs reserved to Sky Ranch the authority to use that eight acres of land

to conduct collateral, commercial business activity on the Project, including, but not limited to, conducting fixed base operations for the fueling and maintenance of aircraft and purposes incident thereto, construction and maintenance of aircraft and purposes incident thereto, construction and sale or leasing of aircraft hangar space, scenic air tour services and light manufacturing.

---

3. For ease of reference, the trial transcripts of April 19th (R. at 754) and 20th (R. at 755) will be referred to as Tr.1 and Tr.2 respectively.

(Ex. 5 at 20.) At trial, Mr. Longley testified that in 1994, pursuant to the provisions of the 1990 CC&Rs, the Association signed an agreement regarding developing the Fixed Base of Operations (“FBO”) and other commercial operations at the Development that provided for related commercial activities such as food service, lodging, and a gas station. (Tr.1 103:19-104:12, 105:10-107:15, 109:4-110:25, 122:24-126:3.) Three water shares were given to the Association in consideration of this agreement. (Ex. 22 at 1.) This evidence was not contradicted at trial.

Notwithstanding this agreement and the 1990 CC&Rs, in 2001, Ray Batson and Gary Jubber appeared before the Washington County Planning Commission on behalf of the Association for the purpose of persuading the Commission to reject Sky Ranch’s request for a zone change that would have allowed it to develop the FBO. (Dep. Batson 30-36.)<sup>4</sup> Washington County denied Sky Ranch’s zoning change request. (R. at 489/14.) Based on these facts, Sky Ranch brought a claim against the Association for breach of contract and tortious interference with business relations in its counterclaim. (R. at 489/12-16.)<sup>5</sup>

The matter was set for a four-day trial beginning April 19, 2010. (R. at 692; 699.) One week before the trial was to begin, the trial was shortened to two days. (Docket entry

---

4. For ease of reference, Sky Ranch will refer to the testimony submitted into evidence by means of deposition (R. at 702, 734, 736, 737) as “Dep.” followed by the person’s last name and the page number of the deposition transcript. Any references to exhibits appended to these depositions will be designated by a lowercase “ex.”

5. Despite the characterization of the cause of action as “tortious interference,” Sky Ranch’s counterclaim alleged that the Association’s duty not to interfere was established by contract. (R. at 489/12-16.) While the cause of action may be more appropriately classified as breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, Longley will continue to refer to the claim as “tortious interference” for the sake of consistency.

of 4/12/2010; Tr.1 20:24-21:2.) As the trial progressed, it became obvious to Sky Ranch's counsel that they would not be able to fully cover the tortious interference claim. Sky Ranch's counsel requested that the court hear evidence on this issue on a later date, which the Court agreed to do. (Tr.2 at 170:6-171:10.)

Notwithstanding this agreement, and without giving Sky Ranch notice or an opportunity to respond, the trial court ruled upon the issue of tortious interference in its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, holding that the Association "had no contractual obligation not to oppose Mr. Longley's effort not to oppose zoning changes . . . and because they are immune from liability for petitioning the government in any event, there is no basis to hold the Association liable for tortious interference in this case." (R. at 741/22.) The trial court further held that any agreement "not to resist zoning changes adverse to the Association" would be "void as being inconsistent with the board member's fiduciary duties." (R. at 741/22 n.5.)

The Association later submitted a proposed judgment in its favor with respect to the issue of tortious interference, which included a footnote stating that

prior to adjourning the trial, Defendants had been unable to establish any contractual obligation on behalf of Plaintiff that could form the basis of a tortious interference claim. Specifically, the only evidence Defendants had introduced was an unsigned contract with proposed modifications handwritten on it.[] After further reviewing the tortious interference claim, however, the Court is persuaded that Plaintiff cannot be held liable regardless of what additional evidence may be presented because of Plaintiff's constitutional right to petition the government . . . .

(R. at 746/2 n.1.) Sky Ranch objected to the proposed judgment, stating that (1) the tortious interference claim was never submitted for the decision of the trial court, (2) the statement in the judgment that "the only evidence Defendants had introduced was an



unsigned contract with proposed modifications handwritten on it” was a new finding that was never made by the trial court, and one that should not have been made considering that Sky Ranch had not had the opportunity to present all of its evidence, and (3) Sky Ranch never had an opportunity to brief or argue against the conclusion that the Association’s right to petition superseded any contractual obligations that it may have had. (R. at 742/2-3.) The trial court entered the judgment as submitted by the Association without addressing Sky Ranch’s objections. (R. at 746.)

### III. THE AIRPORT LEASE

The Airport is privately owned by Defendant Grassy Meadows Airport Inc. and was leased to Grassy Meadows Sky Ranch Owners Association pursuant to a lease agreement dated November 25, 1990. (Ex. 1.) The Lease required the Association to

maintain the airstrip and its facilities in the same or better condition, normal wear and tear excepted, as when received from Lessor, including but not limited to performing the following duties in connection therewith: paint, level, compact, remove weeds, repair and oil the surface covering the airstrip . . . maintain, replace and repair any runway lighting system, beacon, and equipment associated therewith.

(*Id.* ¶ 8.) The Airport Lease also required the Association to

provide all risk liability insurance as is commonly provided for private airports, which shall show Lessor and Sky Ranch Development, Inc. as additional insureds. The limit of liability coverage shall be set by mutual agreement, and the policy shall be subject to the reasonable approval of lessor.

(*Id.* ¶ 10.) The Lease provided that Sky Ranch could terminate the lease if the Association did not comply with a written notice to cure within 30 days. (*Id.* ¶ 4.)

After a long battle to try to get the Association to maintain the runway and associated facilities as per the Lease, Sky Ranch caused a written notice of default to be



delivered to the Association on March 31, 2003, which identified the Association's breaches. (Ex. 2.)

The Association replied in a letter, denying that they were in breach of the Lease and sending an insurance declaration showing that Grassy Meadows Airport was an additional insured on their policy. (Ex. 3.) The Association did some weed cleanup and replaced burned-out light bulbs on the runway, but did nothing else to cure their default. (Dep. Batson 25-27.) Sky Ranch sent a final notice of termination on May 5, 2003. Sky Ranch took possession of the airstrip and did inspections and maintenance work in the amount of \$12,000.00. (Tr.2 21:16-22:20.) Thereafter, Sky Ranch allowed the Association to resume use of the airstrip pending resolution of the dispute. (Ex. 40.)

At trial, the following evidence was presented regarding breaches of the lease agreement:<sup>6</sup>

***The Runway.*** An inspection done was done by Wayne Rogers of Applied Geotechnical Engineering Consultants on May 2, 2003 and May 19, 2003. Mr. Rogers testified at trial as an expert witness. (Tr.2 69:14-16.)<sup>7</sup> He found significant cracking of the runway asphalt and weeds growing in the cracks. (Tr.2 71:2-25.) Because of the age of the asphalt, sealing cracks and oiling the runway was not sufficient maintenance at this time—the runway required repaving soon, or it would start to deteriorate rapidly. (Tr.2 71:23-72:7.) Mr. Rogers also found that the crack sealant put on the runway was quite

---

6. The following evidence is in favor of Sky Ranch's position. Evidence supporting the trial court's decision will be discussed in the argument portion as required by Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(9).

7. A summary of Mr. Rogers' inspection is in the record as Exhibit 35.

thick, to the point where he could feel bumps as he drove down the runway in a car.<sup>8</sup> (Tr.2 72:8-73:3.) He concluded that this was a safety concern for light airplanes, and was urgent enough that it should be addressed as soon as possible. (Tr.2 73:4-13; *see also* Dep. Dubusschere 39-42, 98-99.) Mr. Rogers observed that there were drainage problems on and around the runway, including culverts that had not been properly maintained and so not draining, and a depression that had allowed water to pool on the runway. (Tr.2 73:25-74:8.) He recommended that the culverts be cleaned and that the depression needed to be patched at a minimum. (Tr.2 74:9-20.) He could not tell how long it had been since the drainage system had been taken care of but it was not recent. (Tr.2 74:25-75:6.)

Also, Mr. Longley testified that he had sent a letter to a member of the Association on February 27, 2003, asking them to maintain the runway, and specifically to “develop a runway maintenance program that includes short term and long term maintenance, overlay, and other pertinent details for [the] runway/taxiway.” (Tr.1 212:13-213:3; Ex. 39.) In the letter, Mr. Longley offered to waive lease payments if the runway was repaved by 2006. (Tr.1 214:22-25.) The Association did not accept this offer. (Tr.1 215:2-4.)

***The Airport Lighting System.*** Ryan Christensen inspected the runway lighting system on September 19, 2003. (Tr.1 179:10-17.) He observed that the runway light system was in poor condition. (Tr.1 186:16-22.) The clear lenses of the runway lights had been sandblasted and looked like frosted glass, and the inside of the lenses and the bulbs were covered with dust and spiderwebs. (Tr.1 189:1-190:4.) This was a problem, as it obstructed the light and dimmed the runway lights. (Tr.1 190:5-8.) Several of the fixtures were broken off at the base plate, the transformers were generally buried in the dirt, and

---

8. The effect would have been worse for an airplane, as it lacks a suspension.

the insulation of the wires was brittle and would come off if the wires were moved. (Tr.1 181:13-25; Ex. 34.) There were rodent nests, dead mice and massive amounts of dirt in the voltage control panels, and evidence of mice chewing on the wires. (Tr.1 182:1-10.) The taxiway lights did not work at all, and many were broken and lying on the ground. (Tr.1 182:12, 183:1-5, 188:15-22; Ex. 34.) This was dangerous, as without taxiway lights there was a good probability of taxiing off the runway. (Tr.1 193:22-194:8.) The lighting control building was covered in an inch of dirt and mud, and the spare parts inside were not maintained. (Tr.1 182:13-21, 186:23-187:14; Ex. 34.) Further, because the antenna was put on the outside of the lighting control building, and its wire threaded through a hole in the roof, rainwater could leak through the roof and follow the wire right into the voltage control box. (Ex. 34.) Because the lighting control building houses the controls of the lighting system, it was important that it be maintained. (Tr.1 187:15-188:14.) Mr. Christensen testified that he saw no signs of recent maintenance done on the lights or the control building. (Tr.1 at 191:8-10.)

Mr. Longley testified that the lighting system was unchanged from May 3, 2003 to the date that Mr. Christensen did his inspection. (Tr.1 219:2-21.) The records of the Association do not indicate any expenditures for the maintenance of lights between 1998 and the end of the cure period. (Dep. Habberfield 21 & ex. 2).

**Weed control and Fencing.** On June 11, shortly after the cure period had ended, Michael Longley went onto the property and took pictures of the weeds around the runway. (Tr.2 14-20; Ex. 25-33.) He noted that it looked like someone had attempted to scrape some weeds out with a tractor, but a lot of weeds were left, and that was generally the condition of the property during the cure period. (Tr.2 16:20-17:21.) He was

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