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

Needless to say, none of these provisions more accurately expresses the intent of the 1990 Declaration; rather, they effect a wholesale and illegitimate change in the nature of the community. In short, the trial court correctly ruled that Sky Ranch was prohibited from transforming what was intended to be a small residential community with limited commercial development into a bustling commercial hub with hotels, jet aircraft, hundreds of additional lots, hundreds of additional (non-resident) airstrip users and whatever other commercial development Sky Ranch “in its sole discretion” saw fit to develop. *See, e.g., La Esperanza Townhome Ass’n, Inv. v. Title Sec. Agency*, 689 P.2d 178, 181 (Ariz. App. 1984) (holding amended declaration allowing developer to construct multifamily homes in community designed for single family residences would upset “orderly plan” of community and was, therefore, void); *Moore v. Megginson*, 416 So. 2d 993 (Ala. 1982) (holding amendment allowing industrial warehouse and maintenance facility in residential community was “not in keeping with the area and neighborhood” and therefore void); *Realty Growth Investors v. Council of Unit Owners*, 453 A.2d 450 (Del. 1982) (holding developer’s power to amend declaration did not include power to change total number of units specified in original declaration).

C. The 2002 Declaration Disenfranchises Association Members.

In addition to fundamentally altering the nature of the community, the 2002 Declaration amounts to a power-grab by Sky Ranch resulting in the disenfranchisement of all the Association’s members. The 1990 Declaration designated Sky Ranch as the “Class

B Member” and all other members as either “Class A” or “Class C” members. R. 375a, Ex. 5 at art. III, § 2 (pp. 6–7). Class A and C members were entitled to one vote for each lot owned by them, whereas the Class B member was entitled to five votes for each lot it owned. *Id.* This ensured that Sky Ranch would enjoy a majority of votes for an appropriate period of time to elect trustees and decide all other issues affecting the Association. *E.g., id.* at art. IV, § 4(d) (p. 9); art. V, § 4 (p. 10); art. VI § 2 (p. 13); art. VII, § 1 (p. 17); art. X, §§ 2 and 10 (p. 23, 25); art. XII, § 3 (p. 27). Additionally, so long as it had Class B member status, Sky Ranch had the power to reject any proposed amendment to the declaration adopted by a majority vote of the members. *Id.* at art. XII, § 3 (p. 27).

Sky Ranch was to lose its Class B status and become a Class A member, when either (1) the total number of votes held by Class A and C Members equaled the total number of votes held by Sky Ranch, or (2) the expiration of 15 years after the 1990 Declaration was recorded, whichever occurred first. *Id.* at art. III, § 2. This is a watershed moment under any such arrangement because the developer not only loses control, but the vast majority of its votes, as Class A members are entitled to only one vote per lot, not five. By the time Sky Ranch drafted the 2002 Declaration, the number of votes held by individual members of the Association equaled the number of votes held by Sky Ranch, and Sky Ranch had therefore lost its Class B member status and accompanying control over the Association. R. 754 at 135:8, 17–22 (Mr. Longley testifying that he signed the Association’s Bylaws, which acknowledged that Class B membership had terminated on or about June 16, 1994).

1. Resurrecting Class B member status.

The 2002 Declaration changed all this. First, Sky Ranch asserted that it now had 203 lots compared to 77 held by the Association's members. R. 375a, Ex. 6 at art. III, § 2 (pp. 7–8). Sky Ranch could have only come up with these numbers based on the altered voting scheme it instituted simultaneously discussed below. Sky Ranch then unilaterally declared that “notwithstanding any statement the Board of Trustees may have inserted in the Bylaws to the contrary, Declarant has Class B votes as of the of execution of this Declaration.” R. 375a, Ex. 6 at art. III, § 2 (pp. 7–8). Not only was this statement contrary to the acknowledgment in the Bylaws Mr. Longley signed himself, it was also contrary to the 1990 Declaration, which unlike the 2002 Declaration, had no provision whereby the declarant could reassert its Class B member status once it expired. *Compare* R. 375a, Ex. 5 at art. III (pp. 6–7) *with* R. 375a, Ex. 6 at art. III, § 5 (p. 9). To dissuade anyone from challenging this unauthorized action, Sky Ranch further declared: “It shall be cause for automatic dismissal from membership on the Board of Trustees of the Association for board members to fail to recognize Declarant's votes, including those held in trust for Declarant.” *Id.*

2. Altering voting scheme to retain Class B member status.

Having resurrected its Class B membership, Sky Ranch then sought to ensure that it would never again lose its control based on vote totals. Sky Ranch did this by (1) dramatically expanding the land area and commercial lot numbers of the Association, and (2) expanding the definition of “Lot” to include hangars, as discussed above in Part I.B.1. As owner of all these additional commercial and hangar lots, Sky Ranch greatly increased

its number of votes, particularly in light of the vote multiplier afforded the Class B member.⁹ Sky Ranch also extended the date when its Class B status will terminate regardless of vote totals by *seven years*. Compare R. 375a, Ex. 5, art. III, § 2 (b) (p. 7) with R. 375a, Ex. 6, art. III, § 2 (p. 8). By giving Sky Ranch hundreds of additional votes, the 2002 Declaration ensures that Sky Ranch will always be able to at least out vote the residents of the community, even after its Class B status eventually terminates. In this way, Sky Ranch not only illegitimately resurrected and then extended its ability to veto any community rules or declaration amendments passed by the Association, it ensured it would be able to exercise control over the entire community indefinitely, thus rendering the Association impotent and completely symbolic.

3. Extension of Sky Ranch's power beyond Class B member rights.

As if unilaterally reinstating and extending its Class B member power were not enough, the 2002 Declaration also gave Sky Ranch the right to promulgate and enforce its own rules and regulations for the Association in perpetuity and “the right to unconditionally veto” any rules or regulations promulgated by the Association for 15 years. R. 375a, Ex. 6 at art. IV, § 4(i) (p. 11) and R. 375a, Ex. 6 at art. XII, § 2 (pp. 31–32). Although, the Lease gives Sky Ranch, as Lessor, the right to promulgate rules and regulations affecting the airstrip, no document prior to the 2002 Declaration gave Sky Ranch the power to promulgate rules and regulations affecting the entire community. R. 375a, Ex. 1, § 2. Rather, the 1990 Declaration made it clear that this right was within the exclusive province of the Association.

⁹ The 2002 Declaration also made it so that Sky Ranch could “vot[e] all or any portion of [its Class C votes] as Class B votes” in its “discretion.” R. 375a, Ex. 6, art. III, § 2 (p. 8).

R. 375a, Ex. 5 at art. XII, § 2 (p. 27). Moreover, the 2002 Declaration makes it so any rule Sky Ranch adopts regarding the airstrip will trump any inconsistent rule adopted by the Association in perpetuity. R. 375a, Ex. 6 at art. XII, § 2 (p. 32).

Similarly, the 2002 Declaration allows Sky Ranch for the first time to “charge reasonable admission and other fees of Association Members for the use of the airstrip” *Id.* at art. IV, § 4(d). This effected a unilateral and unauthorized amendment to the Lease entered into with the Association, which set forth specifically what the lease payments would be and did not give Sky Ranch the authority to charge additional use fees. R. 375a, Ex. 1. Sky Ranch attempts to justify this illegitimate provision by arguing: “While this language seems vague, it seems unlikely that it would give Sky Ranch a right to charge fees for the use of the airstrip” Brief of Appellant at 33. In fact, there is nothing at all ambiguous about this provision, which specifically refers to “the Declarant,” or, in other words, Sky Ranch, having this power. R. 375a, Ex. 6, art. IV, §4(d) (p. 10).

Sky Ranch culminated its power-grab by littering the 2002 Declaration with a number of provisions requiring the automatic dismissal of board members for acting in any way contrary to Sky Ranch’s desires. As discussed above, the 2002 Declaration requires the automatic dismissal of trustees for challenging Sky Ranch’s unauthorized reinstatement of Class B member status. It also requires automatic dismissal for the following: (1) failing to maintain taxiways (as opposed to the airstrip), even though the taxiways are privately owned, some by Sky Ranch itself, R. 375a, Ex. 6 at art. VI, § 2 (p. 16); (2) refusing to sign Sky Ranch’s proposed “addendum to the lease agreement,” R. 375a, Ex. 6 at art. VI, § 5 (p. 19); and (3) allowing lawsuits by the Association against Sky Ranch, among other lawsuits, unless

approved by a super majority of members. R. 375a, Ex. 6 at art. V, § 2 (p. 12). Sky Ranch attempts to justify these extraordinary provisions by comparing them to *in terrorem* clauses sometimes found in wills. However, there is a world of difference between a clause in a will designed to prevent family infighting resulting from dissatisfaction over one's inheritance and provisions set forth in a contract designed to chill a party's right to challenge illegal provisions in that contract.

In short, the 2002 Declaration hijacked the Association's autonomy and made Sky Ranch (*i.e.*, Mr. Longley) the supreme overlord of the Grassy Meadows community. Needless to say, this does not advance or more accurately express the intent of the 1990 Declaration—it undermines it. Thus, this further confirms that the trial court correctly ruled that the 2002 Declaration is void. *See Holiday Pines Prop. Owners Ass'n v. Wetherington*, 596 So. 2d 84, 87–88 (Fla. Ct. App.) (voiding amendment undermining property owners' "right of individual control").

D. Sky Ranch Never Argued below to Have the Offending Provisions of the 2002 Declaration Severed, Nor Is Severance Practical.

Finally, Sky Ranch asserts error on the trial court's part for failing to sever the offending provisions of the 2002 Declaration instead of declaring the entire document to be void. Sky Ranch is precluded from making this argument on appeal because it never made this argument below. It is fundamental that, "in order to preserve an issue for appeal the issue must be presented to the trial court in such a way that the trial court has an opportunity to rule on that issue." *Pratt v. Nelson*, 2007 UT 41, ¶ 15, 164 P.3d 366 (citations omitted).

Here, the trial court never had an opportunity to consider this argument because Sky Ranch never raised it. Accordingly, Sky Ranch is precluded from raising it here.

Additionally, if this Court were to sever each offending provision from the 2002 Declaration it would be rendered meaningless. *See, e.g., State v. Lopes*, 980 P.2d 191, 196 (Utah 1999) (holding provisions may not be severed if it would render remaining provisions inoperable). This is not a case, for example, where an offending noncompete provision can be severed from an otherwise enforceable employment agreement. Severing all the offending provisions from the 2002 Declaration, which include the provisions governing membership and voting rights among many other key provisions discussed above, would leave nothing but a patchwork of isolated provisions having no continuity and giving no meaningful guidance to governance of the Association. As such, severance is simply not an option.

II. THE TRIAL COURT RIGHTLY DISMISSED SKY RANCH'S CLAIM FOR TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE.

Sky Ranch argues that the trial court denied its due process rights by dismissing its tortious interference claim without an opportunity to be heard. In reality, the trial court dismissed the tortious interference claim only after being argued by both parties at the conclusion of trial. R. 755 at 182:13–183:18; 205:8–206:9. The trial court had earlier agreed to give Sky Ranch another day (essentially another chance) to produce evidence to prove a contract between Sky Ranch and the Association “*if necessary.*” *Id.* at 171:10–23 (emphasis added). The need to schedule another day of trial was contingent on the court’s rulings related to “the part of the trial [it had already] heard.” *Id.* After considering the parties’ respective proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law, the court ruled that it was

“unnecessary to reconvene the trial to receive more evidence on this issue,” because the Association could not be liable for tortious interference as a matter of law. R. 746 at 2 n.1.

The trial court’s ruling was correct. “It is settled that one party to a contract cannot be liable for the tort of interference with contract for inducing a breach by himself or the other contracting party.” *Leigh Furniture and Carpet Co. v. Isom*, 657 P.2d 293, 301 (Utah 1982) (citations omitted). Sky Ranch sued the Association for opposing a change in zoning ordinances needed for Sky Ranch to expand the FBO area within the Grassy Meadows community. R. 489 at ¶¶ 62–84. Sky Ranch alleged that the Association had previously agreed not to oppose Sky Ranch’s efforts to expand the FBO area. *Id.* at ¶¶ 66–67. Instead of suing the Association for breaching this alleged agreement, however, Sky Ranch sued the Association for tortious interference of contract. No evidence Sky Ranch could offer at trial could remedy this fundamental flaw. Accordingly, Sky Ranch’s argument on appeal that “the Association is attempting to avoid liability for *breaching* its contractual obligation . . . ,” Brief of Appellant at 32–33 (emphasis added), is of no avail because there is no claim for breach of contract at issue. For this reason alone, the trial court’s ruling should be affirmed.

Additionally, a key element of tortious interference is lacking in this case even were tortious interference the correct cause of action under the circumstances. To prevail on a claim for tortious interference, a claimant must prove that the defendant interfered for “an improper purpose or by improper means.” *Leigh Furniture*, 657 P.2d at 304. In light of this element, Sky Ranch’s claim fails on its face because the Association acted entirely within its rights in opposing the proposed zoning. Specifically, the *Noerr-Pennington* doctrine immunizes the Association and its members from liability that might otherwise arise from

petitioning the government, as in opposing zoning ordinance changes before a county planning commission. *See Anderson Dev. Co. v. Tobias*, 2005 UT 36, ¶ 25, 116 P.3d 323 (holding developer's tortious interference claim brought against individuals resisting zoning changes barred by *Noerr-Pennington* immunity). The Utah Supreme Court explained:

The First Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees citizens the right to "petition the Government for a redress of grievances." U.S. CONST. amend. I. In recognition of this right, the United States Supreme Court has held that individuals and organizations are immune from liability under antitrust laws for actions constituting petitions to the government. *See United Mine Workers v. Pennington*, 381 U.S. 657, 670, 85 S. Ct. 1585, 14 L. Ed.2d 626 (1965); *E. R.R. Presidents Conference v. Noerr Motor Freight, Inc.*, 365 U.S. 127, 138, 81 S. Ct. 523, 5 L. Ed.2d 464 (1961). Over the years, courts have extended this immunity doctrine, referred to as the *Noerr-Pennington* Doctrine, *see R.A.V. v. City of St. Paul*, 505 U.S. 377, 420, 112 S. Ct. 2538, 120 L. Ed.2d 305 (1992), to "protect . . . political activity against tort claims as well as antitrust claims," *Searle v. Johnson*, 646 P.2d 682, 684 (Utah 1982).

Id. at ¶ 26; *see also Kovac v. Crooked River Ranch Club and Maintenance Ass'n*, 63 P.3d 1197, 1200–01 (Or. Ct. App. 2003) (holding homeowner association's actions in opposing homeowner's application for a conditional use permit amounted to nothing more than constitutionally protected participation in the political process and were therefore immune from antitrust liability under the *Noerr-Pennington* doctrine."); *Leigh Furniture*, 657 P.2d at 308 (reaffirming "constitutionally protected activity, like the exercise of First Amendment rights," absolves individuals of liability even if the improper purpose/unlawful means test is satisfied).

Thus, even had the trial court committed some technical procedural error in dismissing Sky Ranch's tortious interference claim before Sky Ranch had finished putting on all its evidence in support of the existence of a contract between itself and the Association, such

an error would be harmless given the above two reasons compelling dismissal of the claim as a matter of law. *See Jones v. Cyprus Plateau Min. Corp.*, 944 P.2d 357, 360 (Utah 1997) (“Harmless errors are those that are sufficiently inconsequential so no reasonable likelihood exists that the error affected the outcome of the proceedings.”) (citations omitted).

III. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT SKY RANCH WAS NOT ENTITLED TO TERMINATE THE AIRPORT LEASE AGREEMENT.

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